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It is doubtful whether Chinese officials could have foreseen the
close connection that would emerge between rice and contraband.
Because rice brought more opium traders to China, opium in turn
generated more silver. Silver then brought about a continual increase
in the legitimate trade in tea, so there were strong incentives not to
disturb the smuggling downriver. It was better for Hoppos and gov-
ernors-general to ignore these activities for the sake of their reputa-
tions and future careers. Lintin’s remote location and being situated
between two administrative regions made the connivances going on
there relatively easy for officials to ignore, disregard, and/or dismiss.
As Chinese merchants encouraged Americans and others to bring
more rice to China, the Lintin network became even more successful.

The opium trade continued to increase to the point that silver
began leaving the country in ever increasing quantities. But at the
same time, the parallel increase in rice shipments to China fulfilled
merchants’ duties to local officials by answering their calls for more
of those imports. Officials, in turn, could give a good report to their
superiors that they had increased rice imports to better feed the pop-
ulation, and had also increased imperial revenues from duties on tea
sales. In the end, it was in the interest of all parties in Canton to
ignore the illegal activities going on downriver. The Lintin network
answered local officials and merchants’ needs, in the short term,
which helps to explain why it was tolerated. Lintin also answered the
needs of small private traders such as many Americans which explains
why it was established and why the trade there expanded so rapidly.
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The historic Canton trade has long sat enveloped in a nostalgic fog.
On the Chinese side, the identity of but a few famous Hong mer-
chants has been discernable. The rest have been seemingly lost in the
haze. The Western side has been seen in clearer outline, at least in the
sense that the names of more individuals and enterprises have been
recognized. This fog is rapidly lifting. The energetic work of a genera-
tion of scholars has thrown new light on Chinese merchants active
at Canton and Macao.' Our understanding of the many Chinese par-
ticipants in this important maritime trade has greatly improved. New
scholarship has also illuminated the Western side of the trade. Rising
interest in this complicated international trade is evident in the work
of a new generation of graduate students, and in the energy seen at
the December 2008 Macao conference.?

Introduction

The subject of this paper is a debt settlement made on April 1, 1820
between a Chinese merchant and his American debtor. This remarka-
ble settlement illuminates credit extensions, power relationships, and
the changing and interrelated roles of participants in the Canton trade
in the first quarter of the nineteenth century. Creditor Conseequa
(Pan Changyao) was one of a small group of merchants licensed by
the Qing government to conduct maritime trade from Canton. As
of 1820, Conseequa was deeply in debt to creditors including the
British East India Company (EIC). As creditor, he accepted Spanish
$40,000 in debt settlement. His debtor Benjamin Chew Wilcocks
was an American trader long resident at Canton, third United States
consul there. Wilcocks paid $40,000 to settle a debt that was about
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ten times greater. At the same time, the Hong merchant Howqua
II (Wu Bingjian) was extending financial support to Wilcocks, who
had suffered a financial setback in 1819. The EIC was a powerful
Western participant in the Canton trade, through its dissolution in
1834. As a dominant creditor of the Hong merchant Conseequa, it
seems to have taken much, if not all, of the $40,000 paid in April
1820. As a background irritant, Conseequa and the EIC seem to
have been furious at Wilcocks for having recently arranged the dis-
count purchase from Howqua IT of an unpaid 1808 note payable by
Conseequa, which was forwarded to Philadelphia and then redeemed
in full from Conseequa’s liquid assets there.

This chapter is also about contracting in a legal netherworld.
Much of this debt was illegal, with the result that proper tools for
collection and enforcement were lacking. Conseequa’s debt to the
EIC was illegal under Chinese law, as was his large extension of
credit to Wilcocks. While his debtor Wilcocks was present at Canton,
Conseequa had few legal collection tools he could use there, as
indeed Wilcocks had few assets there. Conseequa had been ener-
getic in using American legal process to collect from United States
debtors, using Wilcocks to manage much of this effort. Even the
money paid to Conseequa in settlement seems to have been illegal in
origin. The Spanish $40,000 Wilcocks paid Conseequa in settlement
would appear to have been proceeds from the illegal importation of
India opium into China. Both Wilcocks and his sometime employer
and agent William Waln (who redeemed Conseequa’s 1808 note at
Philadelphia) were key players in developing American opium trading
to Canton from Turkey and from India. Much about these transac-
tions encouraged private resolution among the participants, without
resort to the Chinese authorities,

The Rise and Fall of the Liquan Hong

Conseequa and the Liquan Hong are one of the better studied Hong
merchant firms.? The history of this firm catches the Hong merchant
system in transition. It links the Hong merchants of the period through
1798—victims of a “mass extinction,” in Weng Eang Cheong’s apt
characterization—with their successors who conducted Canton’s
foreign trade through the demise of the Canton system in 1843.7 As
a member of the Pan family, operators of the formerly preeminent
Tongwen Hong,’ Conseequa connects these two eras. His Liquan
Hong, in business from 1796, enjoyed initial apparent success, but
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failed in stages, closing finally in 1823 after Conseequa’s death. In
the years 1804 through 1822, it was involved in extensive debt col-
lection in the United States, in and out of court.® Twenty years ago,
it was obvious “that considerable additional records of [Conseequa’s
foreign] collection activity and litigation, as yet unlocated, still exist.””

Pieces of the Liquan Hong puzzle continue to come into place.
Just weeks before the December 2008 Macao conference, important
new evidence concerning the firm'’s failure was discovered:® a formal
legal release by Conseequa of his American debtor Wilcocks, signed
in April 1820. This document casts new light on the Hong’s relation-
ship with foreign debtors and creditors, its debt collection efforts in
the United States, its agents and their authority, its operations in
trusteeship, and its affairs in its waning days.

Conseequa had what seems to have been a rapid rise. He was first
noticed in 1783, trading outside the foreign trade monopoly under the
cover of his family’s Tongwen Hong. He was twenty-three years old.
In December 1796, the scale of his foreign business attracted official
notice, and he was arrested for trading without a license. A Hong
chop (license) was duly acquired. With that, Conseequa’s Liquan
Hong officially opened for business. Its proprietor spoke French well.
He also spoke some pidgin English. He had several daughters. His
son Pan Ruiqing worked with the firm, and was stripped of purchased
official titles when it closed in 1823.°

The new Liquan Hong engaged in business with the British EIC
on a large scale, and also with various other foreign merchants. It
traded heavily with Americans, often on credit terms.'® These loans
grew into massive amounts. In 1815 Conseequa told investigat-
ing authorities that Spanish'' $2.5+ million was owed to him by
American debtors and by the private Armenian merchant Gregory
Baboom.'? Litigation records show that in April 1808 Conseequa was
owed United States $500,000 by his debtors in the American City of
Philadelphia alone.'* A [partial] tabulation of Conseequa’s loans, pre-
pared in 1987 from then known records, identifies Spanish $420,596
in loans by Conseequa to Americans during the decade 1800-1809."

The source of the funds Conseequa lent is uncertain. As of 1800,
he had little free cash. He had been a Hong merchant for four years,
with seventeen years’ prior history as an outside trader. A 50,000
tael (Spanish $69,400) smuggling fine levied against the Hong that
summer forced Conseequa to borrow from the British EIC to meet
obligations, and left him unable to meet at least one commitment in

1801. That fine was paid, in installments, through the year 1801."
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As of 1800, his accumulated trading profits do not seem to have
been in the range required to support lending on the scale in which
the Liquan Hong was becoming engaged. Yet in November 1805,
Conseequa told supercargo William Read that he was prepared to
make loans of as much as $100,000 to $150,000.'¢

Conseequa obviously borrowed some of the funds he lent. This
practice is common today, and can be useful if controlled. When credit
is available to customers, they may buy more. Profit may increase as
well; a financing seller may make money as a lender, in addition to
the profit from the initial sale. It is doubtful that Conseequa origi-
nally intended to finance his foreign customers on a large scale. Nor
would it seem that he was ever so scientific as to track net gain on the
spread between his cost of funds and amounts repaid by his customer
debtors. The evidence indicates that his purchase financing started
modestly in the late 1700s, and grew in the early 1800s, presum-
ably supported by good repayment experience with his early loans.!”
The Hong's loan exposure seems to have grown beyond Conseequa’s
intentions and the knowledge of his other creditors. We know that
Conseequa was becoming concerned about his exposure in 1805,
even as he bragged to William Read about his lending power. A
dispute arose that year between Conseequa and the supercargo of
the ship Ganges of Philadelphia, “as to the extent of the credit, which
Conseequa said he did not expect would be so large."’®

If Conseequa’s business plan is unknown, its terrible conclusion
is plain. In his loans to customers, Conseequa ended up lending out
all the accumulated profit and trading capital of his firm, together
with money he obtained from others. After the Liquan Hong paid
vendor expenses of the current season {assuming it was able to do so),
it remained in debt to its lenders. Interest was constantly accruing
on that debt. Its survival came to depend on foreign debtors repaying
their loans. The future of the Hong became a gamble, depending on
the collection of money from debtors half a world away. That gamble
failed.

When President Thomas Jefferson signed the Embargo Act on
December 22, 1807, the Liquan Hong was already dangerously over-
extended. Then came disaster in Philadelphia. Three debtors, warned
of imminent suit against them, sued Conseequa in March 1808 and
obtained an attachment of all of his assets in that city. In April 1808,
the sheriff garnished $500,000 due to Conseequa from twenty-one
named Philadelphia merchants. According to Conseequa’s later suit
against these debtors, this attachment, continued through May 1809,
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prevented these merchants from paying him. This group includes
Wilcocks. Waln, also featured in the 1820 release, is the first named
by Conseequa in his list of garnishee debtors.’

‘No amount of litigation skill, or collection vigor, could undo the
damage done to the firm’s U.S. debtors first by the embargo, which
held shipping idle in port until March 1809, and by the wars wh.ich
produced the embargo. Of the debts that were collected in America,
Wilcocks testified in 1810 that “he believes great part thereof were
prevented by capture from getting into Consecequa’s hands.”?

The decline of the Liquan Hong was gradual. In January 1813,
the firm was placed in trusteeship with four other “junior” Hong mer-
chants. The trusteeship was run by the EIC as dominant creditor;
two of the three trustees were its employees (James Molony, junior
supercargo, and Alexander Pearson, surgeon), and the third truste'e,
Hollingsworth Magniac, was a British private trader.”* The trusteeship
did not fare well. In 1815 the insolvency of the junior merchants was
reported to the Viceroy, who ordered financial reports from each.?
Conseequa claimed that his debt to foreigners was but 228,905 taels
(Spanish $317,720.14), and that it would be paid off by 18119.23 The
trusteeship ended in 1819,% but Conseequa’s indebtedness did not.

The Liquan Hong limped forward from trusteeship with unpaid
old debt to the EIC, and accumulating new liabilities. These debts
had reached the total sum of 400,000 taels (Spanish $555,200)
by September 1821—eighteen months after Conseequa released
Wilcocks—when it failed again.?® The firm was now bailed out by
the Hong merchant body, on British EIC insistence (baited by doling
out corresponding shares of Conseequa’s former EIC business to
the others).? Stripped of its EIC contracts, the Hong was mortally
wounded. Its third failure followed the August 5, 1823 death of Pan
Changyao, when it closed its doors forever.?”

The total foreign debt of the Liquan Hong, on its demise in 1823,
was 372,000+ taels (Spanish $516,336+).2% Creditors petitioned
Governor-General (and acting Hoppo) Ruan Yuan, seeking payment
of these debts by the Hong merchants pursuant to their state-enforf:ed
collective debt guaranty. After proceedings, and repeated creditor
objections, the governor-general finally ordered the Hong merchants
to reach an agreement with the creditors.?” The 372,000+ taels debt
was thereafter discharged by the Horng merchant body in five equal
installments of 74,400 taels, without interest, the first two install-
ments having been paid to the EIC only.*
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Benjamin Chew Wilcocks, Debtor

Benjamin Chew Wilcocks is an important figure in the early history of
U.S. trade with China. A private merchant with an elite Philadelphia
background, he served as the third U.S. consul at Canton.? Wilcocks
played a pioneering role in developing a U.S. opium trade from Turkey
to China, as agent for William Waln (1775-1826) (a key figure in the
1820 release).’ Wilcocks also plaved a key role in developing U.S.
opium trade from India to China.* Despite these pioneering initia-
tives, he suffered business reverses. After having built up “a consider-
able fortune,” Wilcocks ran deeply into debt, notably to Conseequa
and Howqua II (Wu Bingjian). This burden e,\p]ain's his unusually
long residence at Canton (1804—1808 and 1812-1827), as he tried
to make money, pay debts, and build a fortune sufficient to return
home.* Wilcocks lived well. developed interests in Canton real estate
(lease rights in factory buildings rented to foreign residents). and
had many friends, Chinese and Western, including the artist George
Chinnery, who produced an elegant full-length portrait of Wilcocks.*
His Chinese friends included Howgqua I1,* Conseequa,® and pre-
sumably other merchants Wilcocks served in collecting debts.

Wilcocks may have seemed an especially safe debtor to Conseequa.
He had status as a leader of the Americans, was well known, was a
local and not a long-distance debtor, and had been trusted by several
Hong merchants to manage the collection of loans to their American
debtors. The 1820 release specifically confirms Wilcocks’s collection
agency for Conseequa.®® The release also confirms that the promi-
nent Philadelphia lawyer Charles Jared Ingersoll collected from and
held funds paid by Conseequa's American debtors (“my monies in
the hands of”).* The retention of Ingersoll as Conseequa's lawyer,
by Wilcocks as agent, was at once the natural choice of a leading and
well-connected local lawyer and also an inside pick, as Ingersoll was
married to Wilcocks’s younger sister. *

Wilcocks is best remembered today as the anonymous, “Mr.
W___," the beneficiary of a spontaneous 1827 act of generosity by
Howqua II. His predicament that year, and Howqua's response to it,
is described by William C. Hunter:!

An American gentleman, who had resided many years at Canton, and
had possessed a considerable fortune, met with serious losses, The
hope of regaining it induced him to continue operations, in which he
was materially assisted by Houqua. They had been, as was usually
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said, in the words of the place, “olo flen.” Time passed, considerable
sums were placed at the disposal of Mr. W , no reference being
made to them by the Hong merchant until, at the end of a second
or third year, Houqua's and his accounts were compared, and the
balance in favor of Houqua was 72,000 dollars. For this amount he
took a promissory note and it was locked up in his strong box . . .

One day, when on a visit to his Chinese friend, the latter said,
“You have been so long away from your own country, why do you
not return?” To which Mr. W_____ replied that it was impossible—
he could not cancel his note, and this alone would prevent him.
Houqua enquired if the bond [note], only, kept him in Canton, and
if he had not some means wherewith to provide for a residence at
home? The answer was that no other debts existed, and he was not
without resources—but the note!! Houqua summoned his purser,
and ordered him to bring the envelope containing promissory notes
from the treasury. Taking out that of Mr. W____ he said, “You and
I are No. 1, ‘olo flen’; you belong honest man, only no got chance.”
He then tore the note up, and throwing the fragments into the waste-
paper basket, added, "Just now hav settee counter, all finishec; you
go, you please.” That is to say, “Our accounts are now all settled, you
can leave when you like.”

Wilcocks left Canton in December 1827.%

His Spanish $72,000 debt, cancelled by Howqua II that
year, is said to date from 1819, triggered by the failure of Waln.*
Waln, Wilcocks’s Philadelphia agent, sometime employer, and later
father-in-law,** also a debtor to Conseequa,** failed in the summer of
1819.% According to Hunter, the forgiven $72,000 debt was the total
amount of monies “placed at the disposal” of Wilcocks by Howqua II
over two to three years after Wilcocks suffered these “serious losses”
(1819+-1822+). Howqua's original loan, and his later cancellation
of Wilcocks'’s debt for it, were certainly generous acts, but it is an
error to view them as acts of charity alone. Wilcocks had long worked
for Chinese merchants in collecting their debts in the United States.
Howgqua’s support for Wilcocks (and debt cancellation) is best under-
stood as an expression of gratitude for those beneficial services,*” and
an act of friendship. “You and I are No. 1, ‘olo flen’; you belong honest
man, only no got chance.”

Wilcocks had other substantial debts. He is said to have owed
Conseequa 300,000 taels (Spanish $416,000+) as of November
1813.% The April 1, 1820 release freed him from that debt for
Spanish $40,000 paid to Conseequa. Relieved from this debt,



80 Frederic D. Grant, Jr.

Wilcocks worked hard to rebuild his fortune. Fragmentary records of
his opium trading in India, for the years 1824 through 1827, show
substantial earnings in those years.® When Wilcocks told Howqua
Il in 1827 that he was “not without resources” to support himself
at home, the “resources” he referred to were largely recent earnings
from India opium trading.* ‘

Debt collection in the United States, managed by Wilcocks,
included recovery of loans by Conseequa to American opium
traders.” In 1805, in one of the few clearly recorded Hong mer-
chant opium purchases, Conseequa himself bought nine boxes of
o?ium from Willings & Francis, a Philadelphia firm (and debtor to
Conseequa). He paid $11,972 for opium from the ship Bingham, but
later received a credit for four boxes found “to be of a very inferior
Quality.”* Conseequa repeatedly extended tea purchase credit to
Willings & Francis, including loans negotiated with William Read. the
inexperienced and perhaps bumbling supercargo of the Bingham.**
Conseequa sued Willings & Francis in federal court in Philadelphia
on several unpaid notes in 1809, and the firm countersued. Their
litigation ran through a jury verdict entered on November 6, 1816,
producing three reported court decisions.™ .

As between Conseequa’s Liquan Hong as creditor (and debtor)
and Wilcocks as its debtor, there were good reasons for each to strike
a deal in April 1820. The Hong remained in dire need of funds,
saddled with debt to the British EIC, with only a year and a half to
go until its second failure. Wilcocks had suffered serious losses, and
had only been able to remain in business with periodic help from
Howgqua I1. When a debtor—Wilcocks—has limited resources and an
uncertain future, it may make abundant sense for a creditor to take
a partial payment and be done with the matter. The rich detail of the
1820 release shows that it was carefully thought through. It is certain
that Wilcocks's resources and his ability to pay were carefully consid-
ered by the creditor, before the decision was made to take Spanish
$40,000 in satisfaction and to release the balance due.

The New Document: Conseequa’s Release of Wilcocks

The release by Conseequa of Benjamin Chew Wilcocks is a hand-
written laid paper document measuring 22.5 inches across and 18.5
inches from top to bottom.” The document is on British EIC paper.
The right side is watermarked with the ancient trademark of the EIC,
“a heart with two transverse bars, bearing in the four divisions thus

The April 1820 Debt Settlement 81

formed the letters V. E. 1. C.,”*¢ with the year 1818 under it. The left
side is watermarked “S & C WISE,” the papermaker, with the year
1818 under it.>”

The release is dated according to both the Chinese and Western
calendars. It was signed and sealed on “the Nineteenth day of the
Second Moon in the Twenty-fifth year of the reign of the Emperor
Keaking [the Jiaqing Emperor], corresponding with the First-day of
April of the Christian era, One thousand Eight hundred and twenty.”
The dates were written using a slightly different color of ink than was
used in the rest of the body of the document, indicating that the dates
were written in after the main body of the document had been pre-
pared. The release was drafted and reviewed in advance. It was signed
by the parties on a later date (April 1, 1820), presumably the day
when Wilcocks had sufficient funds to make the required payment.

The release identifies Wilcocks by his consular title—“Benjamin
Chew Wilcocks Esquire of the City of Philadelphia now resident
Consul of the United States of America at this Port of Canton.” As the
release was of Conseequa’s claims against him, Wilcocks did not have
to sign. Wilcocks’s sole responsibility was to pay Spanish $40,000 at
closing. The party delivering the formal release of claims is identi-
fied as “Conseequa Hong Merchant of Canton China.” His execu-
tion, before three witnesses, is described as “the said Conseequa have
hereto signed my name in English and Chinese and have also here-
unto affixed my Hong Chop according to the Custom of China.”

Conseequa’s “signature” appears three ways: first, by his personal
trading name, “Conseequa,” handwritten in English script (in black
ink); second, by a combination of the Chinese name of his Hong
and his family name (“Liquan hang Pan"),*® in Chinese characters
(in black ink); and third, by his “Hong Chop” (the stamped red ink
impression of a seal containing four characters) (“nei gui” on the left;
“li quan” on the right). The release was signed by Conseequa before
Redwood Fisher®® and Richard R. Thomson,*® both Americans, as
witnesses. Their statement was witnessed in turn by James Brabazon
Urmston, president of the Select Committee of the EIC and chief for
all affairs of the British Nation in China,®' by his signature and by the
application of the British EIC's red wax seal.

The language of the April 1, 1820 release is modern, in the sense
that the Janguage of forms of release in current use in the United

States today is similar to the language of the release signed by
Conseequa. Lawyers were in short supply at Canton in 1820, but
basic legal knowledge was not. A competent businessman of this
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time had to, and did, know some basic business law. The Conseequa
reIffase reflects that knowledge, but its detail indicates that some form
or formbook was at hand to guide the drafter. The release is a general
or global release—“for any and every debt due from him [Wilcocks]
to me [Conseequa] from the beginning of the world to the present
time"—with one exception. That exception, of rights concerning a
Spanish $20,060 promissory note that Conseequa made in favor of
Howqua IT (Wu Bingjian) on February 27, 1808, is expressed in sharp
words.

The release says nothing of the law that would govern it. Had
a dispute arisen under the release, for example concerning rights
and duties under the exception to the release, there is no indication
whether Chinese, Macanese, British, or U.S. law would govern that
dispute. The failure to specify governing law in a release is common
enough today, and is probably typical of forms of this era, but it also
reflects a stubborn underlying fact. The release was of liability te

Conseequa under a loan the Hong merchant had made to a foreign
trader. That loan was illegal. -

The Illegal Subject Matter of the Release

Loans from Hong merchants to Western merchants—the subject
matter of the release—were illegal under Chinese law. Conseequa
emphasized this point in his February 10, 1814 petition to U.S.
President James Madison.

When such Debtors come to, or reside in, China, he cannot claim
the aid of the Laws of the Imperial Dynasty in his behalf. They pro-
hibit such confidences, as he has placed in Subjects of the L:-ni!ed
States . . . This is why [Conseequa) must beg Your Excellency, the
President of the United States, since [Conseequa] hears that the layw

of your noble country is impartial, and that no matter whether a man

is rich or poor, an American or an alien, everyone is equal before the
law.62

While the ban on outgoing loans by Hong merchants was old as
of 1820, such loans were never significant to the trade as a whole.
Without doubt, the illegality of such a loan would have compli-
cated the hypothetical plea of a Hong merchant creditor to a local
magistrate for relief against a foreign debtor. The real problem for
Conseequa and other Chinese creditors was that their foreign debtors
had no assets at Canton, Defaulted foreign loans required overseas
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collection effort, and Chinese creditors did not shy from that chal-
lenge. Conseequa aggressively collected his debts in America, becom-
ing involved in the “tedious litigation” of which he complained to
President Madison. Abundant evidence exists of the effective use
by numerous Chinese creditors of formal and' informal methods to
collect from their U.S. debtors in the vears leading up to 1843.%

By-contrast, the parallel prohibition on inbound loans to Hong
merchants concerned what was a serious problem for the Canton
system. Such loans continued to be made, despite their total illegal-
ity. Hong merchant foreign debt swelled over time. detonating peri-
odically. In March 1809, the Liquan Hong owed Spanish $931,027
(670,769 taels) to the EIC alone.* This is but one example of a general
and recurring problem. In 1794, Gonqua (Shi Zhonghe) was found to
owe Spanish $2,408,8244+ (1,735,465 taels) on the failure of his Ervi
Hong.** In 1810, the Huilong and Dacheng Hongs of Gnewqua II
(Zheng Chonggian) and Ponqua (Ni Bingfa) failed, collectively owing
Spanish $2,012,609.245 (1,447,000 taels) to foreign creditors.® In
1828, Manhop I (Guan Xiang) owed Spanish $1.9+ million to foreign
creditors on the failure of his Fulong Hong.*” In 1836, the spectacu-
lar failure of the Xingtai Hong of the brothers Yan Qichang and Yan
Qixiang exposed Spanish $2,738.768 in foreign debt.®

The foreign community knew perfectly well that loans to Hong
merchants were illegal under Chinese law. Only short-term transac-
tional loans were legal. The debt prohibition was notorious, included
in the famous “Eight Regulations” governing the Canton trade.
Promulgated in 1760, and revised in varying degrees in 1810, 181 9,
1831, and 1835,7! the “Eight Regulations” were repeatedly pro-
claimed to the foreigners at Canton.™

Never having been abrogated, [the Eight Regulations] were assumed
to be in force always. They were confirmed by an edict of the
Emperor Kea-King [the Jiaqing Emperor] in 1819, after a revision
in 1810. Some of them came to be disregarded by the foreign com-
munity . .. The "Eight Regulations” were now and then brought to
the Factories by a Linguist, as an intimation that they were not to be
considered a “dead letter.””

The failures of Gonqua (Eryi Hong 1794), Gnewqua Il, and Ponqua
(Huilong and Dacheng Hongs 1810), Conseequa (Liquan Hong
1823), Manhop I (Fulong Hong 1828), and the Yan brothers (Xingtai
Hong 1836), recited above, each involved illegal inbound loans.
In each case, foreign creditors petitioned the Canton authorities.
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complained of default and insolvency, and sought orders requiring
the Hong merchant body to pay the defaulted loans under the state-
enforced collective guaranty. Instead of sanctioning the illegal loans
and punishing foreign lenders in accordance with the regulations,
the illegal loans were enforced. In each case, the Canton authorities
ordered the Hong merchant body to repay the illegal debts of failed
individual Hong merchants (without interest) over a term of years.™

Chinese government enforcement of such loans—illegal under
Chinese law—casts its shadow over the First Anglo-Chinese (Opium)
War of 1840-1842. The Spanish $21 million indemnity wrested
from China by the British under the Treaty of Nanking (1842) is well
remembered, but its components are not. Compensation for opium
seized by Lin Zexu was only Spanish $6 million of the total. Another
Spanish $3 million was Hong merchant debt, owed by Hingtae,
Kinqua II, and Mowqua, which was supposed to have been paid
under the collective guaranty (but instead was collected by military
force).” The Hong merchant foreign trade monopoly was abolished
after the Opium War—and with it the state-enforced collective guar-
anty—under both the British™ and the American treaties.”

In the 1820 release, we may see legal portents of impending
conflict. Its subject matter is illegal, several times over. The loans
Conseequa made to Wilcocks were illegal under Chinese law. So was
Conseequa’s debt to the EIC—his former trustee, now witness to,
probable author of, and the likely primary beneficiary of funds paid
for the release. While we are uncertain where Wilcocks found his
Spanish $40,000, the context strongly suggests that this sum was pro-
ceeds of opium trading. Each of the main players in the release trans-
action—Conseequa, Wilcocks, and Waln—had some involvement in
the opium trade. The 1820 release may be seen as a contract made in
a netherworld, a place where illegality was a substantial part of life,
existing in a sort of vacuum without reference to law. Severe underly-
ing conlflicts, pertaining both to loans and to drugs, festered on the
borders of this realm. They found expression, and interim resolution,
in the war of 1839—42 and the foreign treaties and indemnity which
followed.

The Hong Chop or Seal of the Liquan Hong
The four-character red Hong seal that Conseequa applied to the

release merits scholarly attention. The two characters on its right
side identify the firm, “Li quan.” The two characters on the left are
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“nei gui.”’® They may be translated as “inner counter.” The phrase
also denotes strictly internal reports and consolidations of accounting
results.” Its meaning, and the significance of this seal as applied to
the Conseequa release, are uncertain. Might this seal have had the
distinct function of tracking the Hong's old debt? The context sug-
gests this possibility. The seal was used on a release of old (pre-1820)
claims against Wilcocks, the proceeds of which likely went to pay old
(pre-1820) Liquan Hong debt to the British EIC.

The “Hong Chop” or seal was a key link in the Canton system. It
was a Hong merchant’s formal proof that he held monopoly foreign
trading rights, which he had acquired by paying a large fee to govern-
ment. Government created the monopoly, expected the Hong mer-
chants to reap its fruits, and taxed them accordingly. We know little,
however, about the definition and form of this license right. It seems
to have been a non-transferable personal right, granted to one man,*
to operate a non-limited liability enterprise as a security merchant
(Hong merchant). The trader would give his enterprise a2 name (i.e.,
Liquan Hong), or indeed multiple names, and would alsc adopt a
personal trading name (i.e., Conseequa, Howqua). The trading name
served various purposes, including ensuring customer recognition in
the marketplace, and easing communication with foreign merchants
who did not speak Chinese.

In its essence, the Hong license was an expression of state
power—the creation and enforcement of a trade monopoly. Tax rev-
enues derived from this monopoly went to support the state, most
notably the neiwufu (Imperial Household Agency) in Beijing. This
was an important tax revenue stream.®! We have abundant evidence
that the trade monopoly was taken seriously at high levels of gov-
ernment. Indeed, the Liquan Hong owed its very birth to monopoly
enforcement, the 1796 arrest of Pan Changyao for trading without a
license.

Conseequa’s February 1808 Note to Howqua II

The exception to the release is as remarkable as the release itself. Its
strong language is striking, standing out in what is otherwise rather
dull text. As of April 1820, rights in and to the $20,060 promissory
note that Conseequa had delivered to Howqua II in 1808 remained
a very live issue to someone. That note however had taken a long
journey. Purchased at Canton for a discount, it went to Philadelphia
where it was used to intercept $50,000 of Conseequa’s cash.
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The holder of that note had taken advantage of the difference in
the value of Conseequa's debt at Canton and Philadelphia. At Canton,
where Conseequa had few free assets, his debt traded at a discount,
probably a deep discount. At Philadelphia, his debt had value, in the
form of cash collected from his U.S. debtors. This difference in value
was exploited by Waln. The 1808 note was purchased at a discount at
Canton for Waln and then redeemed for full payment of its face value
from the proceeds of notes receivable which had been collected for
Conseequa in the United States. Caonseequa’s firm, and its creditors,
lost value when funds which might have been applied to the claims
of Canton creditors were instead applied preferentially to settle one
relatively small $20,060 note which traveled to Philadelphia.

The 1820 release describes the promissory note’s journey as
follows:

this Instrument of release is not to affect or any wise to alter the
situation in which I stand or to relinquish any claim I have against all
and every person or persons whomsoever, concerned in the recovery
of the Amount due on a certain Hong Chop or obligation bearing
date the Thirteenth Year, first moon, tenth day of the Emperor
Keaking, corresponding with the twenty seventh day of February,
One Thousand Eight hundred and eight, for the Sum of Twenty
Thousand and Sixty Spanish Dollars given and granted by me to
Houqua, Security Merchant of this place and which was purchased
here by the said Benjamin Chew Wilcocks as the agent of William
Waln of Philadelphia and sent to the United States of America
without my knowledge or concurrence and there by form of process
Fifty Thousand Dollars stopped from my monies in the hands of
Charles Jared Ingersoll (no demand having been made on me by the
said Benjamin Chew Wilcocks for payment of the said claim or Chop
previous to his sending the same to America) and paid by the said
Charles Jared Ingersoll to William Waln, it being my full intention
in the execution of this release to the said Benjamin Chew Wilcocks
(hereby declaring that he neither had, nor has, any participation
in the emolument arising from said transaction but that of a mere
Agent) to reserve to myself all of the Legal rights of which I now am,
or ever was possessed, before the execution of these presents, touch-
ing and concerning the said Hong Chop or obligation and the recov-
ery of the same against me, or in other words that the said recovery
of the said Hong Chop shall rest and remain on its own individual
merits, and be in no wise altered or affected by this Instrument . . .
without resigning any right which I now have or ever had, before the
execution of these presents, to recover back from any or all parties
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concerned in the recovery of the Amount of the said Hong Chop as
before recited.

The 1808 note does not appear to have survived. We have only its
description: “a certain Hong Chop or obligation bearing date the
Thirteenth Year, first moon, tenth day of the Emperor Keaking [the
Jiaqing Emperor], corresponding with the twenty seventh day of
February, One Thousand Eight hundred and eight, for the Sum of
Twenty Thousand and Sixty Spanish Dollars given and granted by me
to Houqua, Security Merchant of this place.” The term “hong chop
or obligation,” as used here, refers to a promissory note.®> The fact
that the note was sold to Wilcocks at Canton, and then brought to
Philadelphia and negotiated there, indicates that it was probably an
English-language promissory note in Western form.

The 1808 promissory note is unusual. According to Ch’en Kuo-
tung, it was almost impossible for a junior Hong merchant to borrow
from a senior Hong merchant, without good security.*> While exam-
ples of debts between licensed Hong merchants are known, instances
of such debt evidenced by an English-language promissory note are
scarce, perhaps unique. The odd dollar amount of the note almost
certainly means it documented a loan for a specific purpose, now
unknown. It may have been to facilitate a business transaction with
Western traders, or for Chinese New Year debt repayment. Use of an
English-language note in Western form suggests the former.

The 1808 note bore interest, probably at 12 percent per annum,
the normal rate in the Western trade from Canton.® This is the rate
Conseequa insisted on in litigation with his debtors in the United
States.® As of 1816, the Canton 12 percent rate was considered so
well established in the federal court in Philadelphia, that independ-
ent proof was no longer required.®® The $50,000 that was paid on
account of the 1808 note is further confirmation of accrual of inter-
est on the original $20,060 debt. If one assumes that the note bore
12 percent interest, and that no payments were made, then $28,886+
in interest accrued between 1808 and 1820. The $50,000 attorney
Ingersoll paid on account of the note matches, almost perfectly, the
sum of principal plus 12 percent interest from 1808 to 1820.%” While
there is no record of the date Ingersoll paid Waln, the rate of inter-
est accrual suggests that it was shortly before the date of the 1820
release. Indeed, the sharp language of the release suggests immediate
offense. Conseequa had funds in America at that time; records show
that he was actively collecting from debtors in the United States in
and after 1820.%8
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According to the release, the note transaction involved two
steps, the first at Canton and the second at Philadelphia. At Canton,
Wilcocks went to Howqua 11 and bought Conseequa’s 1808 note for
Waln of Philadelphia. This happened before 1820. While it is tempt-
ing to speculate that the discounted sale of Conseequa’s note was one
of the ways Howqua II extended “material assistance” to Wilcocks,
there is no direct evidence. We know that Waln failed in the summer
of 1819, and that Waln’s Philadelphia failure hit Wilcocks hard (trig-
gering Howqua’s support of the years 1819+-1822+). The second
step was bringing the defaulted 1808 note “to the United States . .
- and there by form of process Fifty Thousand Dollars stopped from
my monies in the hands of Charles Jared Ingersoll and paid by the
said Charles Jared Ingersoll to William Waln.” There is no surviv-
ing record of the “form of process” Waln used to compel payment by
Conseequa’s attorney. No such action appears in the federal court
records. It is probable that Conseequa’s adversary again used the
Court of Common Pleas in Philadelphia (the forum used to secure
the $500,000 attachment of 1808), the records of which are lost.

Waln and Wilcocks both desperately needed money in 1819.
They had powerful economic incentives to cooperate in making
money. Whatever incentives Howqua 11 may have had in selling the
note to Wilcocks are open to speculation.®® As collection agent for
Conseequa, Wilcocks had intimate knowledge of the Homg mer-
chant’s American debt collection. Almost certainly, it was Wilcocks
who recognized the 1808 note as an “opportunity.” Presumably, he
learned of the twelve-year-old unpaid note from Howqua. It is hard
to imagine how Waln (in Philadelphia) would ever have known of an
1808 note between Hong merchants (at Canton), other than through
Wilcocks. While the release recites Wilcocks’s denial of having made
money from the sale of the 1808 note,® that representation is not
backed up by a signature. The release tells us that the 1808 note
was purchased in stealth,” without demand having been made on
Conseequa at Canton.”? This indicates that Wilcocks (and Waln)
knew from the start that this transaction was contrary to the inter-
ests of Conseequa (and his creditors). While it may be literally true
that Wilcocks obtained no direct benefit from the sale, he stood to
gain indirect benefit at least two ways. As a creditor of Waln, after
his 1819 failure, Wilcocks would benefit from Waln making money.
Wilcocks also stood to gain future benefit from reviving his longstand-
ing business relationship with Waln, his Philadelphia agent, some-
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time employer, and future father-in-law. Helping Waln in his hour of
desperate need, Wilcocks also helped himself.

While the 1820 release carefully reserves all rights in connection
with the 1808 note to Conseequa, there was little the Hong merchant
(or his Canton creditors) could do. Indeed, the:language of this part
of the release is odd and repetitive, as if the drafter was struggling to
imagine a legal remedy for the export of a note and its involuntary
payment overseas. Conseequa’s 1808 note had been paid, in full, out
of funds which had been collected for the indebted Hong merchant
at Philadelphia. Desperately needed at Canton, the funds had been
intercepted and lost at Philadelphia. Absent some international insol-
vency proceeding allowing for the recovery of a preferential payment
seized from a debtor by a creditor on the eve of insolvency (none
existed), Conseequa had no power to reverse Waln's involuntary sat-
isfaction of the note he signed on February 27, 1808. For all the text
devoted to an exception concerning the 1808 note, the matter was
a dead letter. No effective remedy existed, for Conseequa, or for his
creditors in turn.

The Position of the British East India Company

As a lender, Conseequa relied on outside sources for some of the
money he lent to others. Borrowed funds helped him lend money; sell
product, and grow his share of the Canton market. When the markets
went against him, his financing obligations only increased the pres-
sures on the Liquan Hong. It declined in significance, lost market
share, and finally failed in stages.

We do not know all the sources of the Liquan Hong's capital.
One source, however, is clear from the records. Conseequa owed the
British EIC Spanish $931,027 (670,769 taels) as of March 1809,
While this debt was down to Spanish $822,906 as of the commence-
ment of the “junior” merchant trusteeship of 1813—1819, and had
dropped to Spanish $280,169 (201,851 taels) by the end of the trus-
teeship, the Liquan Hong's EIC debt remained significant. In its final
years, EIC debt ranged from a high of Spanish $579,696 (417,649
taels) to a low of Spanish $342,630 (246,852 taels).”

In the early nineteenth century, the British EIC was a dominant
and sometimes controlling creditor at Canton. This was Conseequa’s
experience, in common with other Hong merchants who were
indebted to this sophisticated creditor. The EIC was intimately
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involved with the release Conseequa signed on April 1, 1820. James
Brabazon Urmston, head of the Council of Supercargoes at Canton,
was at the table. He signed the release as “Chief for all affairs of the
British Nation in China,” formalizing his signature with the red wax
seal of the British EIC. The careful language of the release, including
precise legal terminology, seems to have come from the EIC as well.
The extent of Conseequa's understanding of this language is uncer-
tain. An EIC employee wrote in English for Conseequa on at least
one other occasion.*

The release was signed late in the history of the Liquan Hong.
Its date suggests that the Wilcocks settlement was probably made as
part of an effort to realize whatever value remained among the Hong's
assets. It would have been preceded by negotiations seeking to maxi-
mize the amount paid by Wilcocks. As the EIC was the Hong’s most
important creditor, it was surely kept informed of efforts to collect the
Wilcocks debt (a material asset of the firm). Perhaps the EIC pushed
these final stage negotiations. As the Hong's creditor (EIC) and debtor
(Wilcocks) were both native speakers of the English language, some
part of the negotiations may well have been directly between the EIC
and Wilcocks. It is even possible that the very Western document
used—a formal legal release—was suggested by the creditor itself, as
an incentive (legal protection) to be used to motivate Wilcocks to pay
as much as he possibly could.

The British EIC was at the settlement table with Conseequa,
watching closely. We may be sure that it, as creditor, took all. or a very
large part, of the Spanish $40,000 Wilcocks paid to Conseequa, its
debtor. As the dominant creditor of the Liquan Hong, the EIC stood
to gain most from the money paid over by Wilcocks upon the execu-
tion by Conseequa of the release of claims.

Conclusion

No Hong merchant, in the history of the Canton trade, was more
involved with Western legal process than Conseequa. As a creditor, he
used leading local Jawyers to collect from his debtors in the United
States. The release he executed in favor of Benjamin Chew Wilcocks
on April 1, 1820, recently discovered, is an important part of that
history. The release is a forceful reminder of the close involvement
of the British EIC—dominant creditor of the Liquan Hong—in its
affairs as a creditor. When Conseequa agreed in 1820 to settle the
debt owed him by Wilcocks, the EIC was there. Not only did the
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EIC likely draft the release for Conseequa, it supplied the very paper
on which it was written (which bears the EIC watermark). As credi-
tor, the E1C probably received all, or most, of the $40,000 paid by
Wilcocks. The EIC played a central role in the release transaction.

Perhaps the EIC, as Conseequa's creditor,*played a similar role
in the collection efforts in the United States. There are few records
of the decision process in hiring and compensating American legal
counsel. We know that premier counsel was engaged, that counsel
engaged in extensive litigation with many debtors, and that counsel
ran up large bills collecting American debts. It is likely that the primary
creditor of the Liquan Hong was kept informed of these efforts, and
their results. To the extent the fees and expenses of counsel retarded
payment to creditors, the EIC may well have been asked to approve
this devotion of resources. There can be no doubt that U.S. debt col-
lection expenses were examined during the trusteeship of Conseequa
and four other “junior” Hong merchants (1813—-1819), and that
charges during this period had to be approved (or disapproved). The
EIC played a central role in these decisjons.

Considered in this light, extensive early-nineteenth-century debt
collection activity by Chinese merchants in the United States becomes
a little less startling. The story may well be more British (or American)
and less Chinese than at first appears. As for the 1820 release, it is
very much a British EIC affair. It is doubtful that Conseequa was
able to read or had any real grasp of its terms when he signed it. He
was sixty years old, perhaps tiring of the fight, three years from death.
A similar process may well have been at work in foreign litigation
management by the Liquan Hong, over twenty years. Its U.S. agents,
and British trustees or creditors, had a far deeper understanding of
foreign legal process than Conseequa ever achieved.

The Hong merchant litigation and legal release story remains
remarkable nonetheless. Adjusted to consider the leading role played
by the EIC, this history becomes even more relevant to our expe-
riences today. The 1820 Release provides a vivid glimpse of parties
acting in multiple, changing, and conflicting roles. Conseequa was
debtor to the EIC and to Howqua II, but was a creditor of many
private Americans, including Waln and Wilcocks. Waln was debtor
to Conseequa, but later, with Wilcocks’s aid, became a creditor of
Conseequa, seizing $50,000 of his funds in Philadelphia. Wilcocks
was debtor both to Conseequa and to Howqua II and a creditor of
Waln. As such, Wilcocks enjoyed at least indirect benefit from the
$50,000 diverted by Waln, much as the EIC—dominant creditor of
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Conseequa—was aggrieved by that loss of money expected to come to
Canton from the United States.

Multiple roles continue to exist simultaneously in the world
economy. One creditor may be debtor to another, and even controlled

in its actions as creditor by its debtor relationship with others. Every

one of these roles is subject to change, sometimes rapidly, as markets
shift, the economic cycle progresses, and parties seek economic
advantage. The positions of economic winner and loser are not fixed,
but simply mark moments in time. The more we learn of the history
of the Liquan Hong, the better we understand the closely linked,
competing, and constantly developing roles of the many players in
China’s early-nineteenth-century foreign trade from Canton.

Appendix: The Text of Conseequa’s 1820 Release of
Benjamin Chew Wilcocks

To all to whom these Presents shall come, Know Ye that I Conseequa
Hong Merchant of Canton China, for and in consideration of the
sum of Forty Thousand Dollars to me in hand paid, at and before
the Sealing and Delivering of these Presents. the receipt whereof
is hereby acknowledged. Have hereby remised, released, and for
ever quitclaimed and hereby remise release and for ever quitclaim
unto Benjamin Chew Wilcocks Esquire of the City of Philadelphia
now resident Consul of the United States of America at this Port of
Canton all demand & demands of every nature and kind whatever
which are now due, owing or payable to me by any Bond, Note, Book
debt or other claim of every nature and kind whatever, together with
all Actions or Causes of Action for the recovery of the same and all
interest and costs or damages arising therefrom either in Law or
Equity hereby accepting the said sum of Forty Thousand Dollars as
a full and complete discharge to the said Benjamin Chew Wilcocks
for any and every debt due from him to me from the beginning of
the world to the present time, whether contracted by himself or by
others for his account, provided always nevertheless, and it is hereb;'
expressly understood that this Instrument of release is not to affect
or any wise to alter the situation in which I stand or to relinquish any
claim I have against all and every person or persons whomsoever, con-
cerned in the recovery of the Amount due on a certain Hong Chop
or obligation bearing date the Thirteenth Year, first moon, tenth day
of the Emperor Keaking, corresponding with the twenty seventh da;-'
of February, One Thousand Eight hundred and eight, for the Sum
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of Twenty Thousand and Sixty Spanish Dollars given and granted
by me to Houqua, Security Merchant of this place and which was
purchased here by the said Benjamin Chew Wilcocks as the agent
of William Waln of Philadelphia and sent to the United States of
America without my knowledge or concurrence: and there by form of
process Fifty Thousand Dollars stopped from my monies in the hands
of Charles Jared Ingersoll (no demand having been made on me by the
said Benjamin Chew Wilcocks for payment of the said claim or Chop
previous to his sending the same to America) and paid by the said
Charles Jared Ingersoll to William Waln, it being my full intention
in the execution of this release to the said Benjamin Chew Wilcocks
(hereby declaring that he neither had, nor has, any participation in
the emolument arising from said transaction but that of a mere Agent)
to reserve to myself all of the Legal rights of which I now am, or
ever was possessed, before the execution of these presents, touching
and concerning the said Hong Chop or obligation and the recovery of
the same against me, or in other words that the said recovery of the
said Hong Chop shall rest and remain on its own individual merits,
and be in no wise altered or affected by this Instrument, it being my
intention to release the said Benjamin Chew Wilcocks as fully and
completely, and I do hereby release him as fully and completely from
all claims against him personally, as can be done by any legal instru-
ment of writing, without resigning any right which I now have or ever
had, before the execution of these presents, to recover back from any
or all parties concerned in the recovery of the Amount of the said
Hong Chop as before recited, and whereas the said Benjamin Chew
Wilcocks under my authority acted as Agent in America for the recov-
ery of certain specific monies due me on notes of hand by Citizens of
the United States and caused them to be paid to me from time to time
as the same were by him received [ hereby expressly declare that this
release is intended to be a complete discharge to him in Law and in
Equity for or on account of all and every the said concerns so trans-
acted by him as agent. And I further declare that saving and excepting
the said Hong Chop, which as before recited is in no wise affected
by this release I do completely discharge the said Benjamin Chew
Wilcocks from all & every claim of every nature & kind whatsoever
both as my debtor & Agent as fully & completely by these presents as
if this Instrument had been drawn up by a legal Character fully com-
petent to give to it every validity in Law & Equity. Hereby resigning all
claim for an account of any Legal inaccuracy or technical omission.
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In faith and testimony whereof the said Conseequa have hereto
signed my name in English and Chinese and have also hereunto
affixed my Hong Chop according to the Custom of China this
Nineteenth day of the Second Moon in the Twenty-fifth year of the
reign of the Emperor Keaking, corresponding with the I—Zirst-day of
April of the Christian era, One thousand Eight hundred and twenty.

/s/ Conseequa

Signed sealed & deliveredi n the presence of us.
/s/ Redwood Fisher

/s/ Richard Thomson

Canton in China

On this First Day of April, In the Year of our Lord One Thousand
Eight Hundred and Twenty. Before me James Brabazon Urmston
Esq. Chief for All Affairs of the British Nation in China, Personally
appeared Redwood Fisher and Richard R. Thomson. subscribiné
Witnesses to the foregoing Release, who being duly and solemnly
affirmed according to Law, did declare that they were present and did
see Conseequa subscribe his name hereto, in English and Chinese
Characters, and that the same is his true hand writing.

/s/ Redwood Fisher /s/ Richard R. Thomson

In testimony whereof, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed
my Seal of Office.

/s/ James Brabazon Urmston

Chief for all affairs of the British Nation in China

Chapter 6
The Importance of the China Trade in

American Exploration and Conquest in
the Pacific, 1830—1850

Michael Block

It has often been pointed out that American interest in the Pacific
Coast of North America rose in parallel with the China trade.
Sydney and Marjorie Greenbie (1925), argued that trade with China
drew Americans to the area that is now the states of Oregon and
Washington.! Some historians have been particularly fascinated with
the idea of California being a gateway to China. After the completion
of the Panama Canal in 1914, there was much optimism that this
new route would accelerate American access to the Pacific and China.
Early California historians such as Robert Glass Cleland (1922),2 the
Greenbies, Foster Rhea Dulles (1930),? and others, wrote extensively
about the connections between the Pacific Coast and China.* As will
be shown below, the factual historical records support a more tenuous
and less direct connection between California and China.

After this brief flowering in the 1920s of interests in Sino-Pacific-
American connections, subsequent historians largely abandoned
these ideas. The more recent “Pacific Histories” have begun to bring
the American Pacific back into focus, while often omitting the role of
China altogether. In their efforts to catch up with the more plenti-
ful popular histories of the Pacific Basin, academic historians have
mainly relied on old notions of manifest destiny, with its emphasis
on land-based territorial aggrandizement, as they once again make
connections between America and the Pacific.” Academic historians
have paid little attention to the Charles Wilkes Exploring Expedition,
which roamed the Pacific from 1838 to 1842, instead leaving it
to popular historians, and academics in fields like anthropology.®
Popular historian Nathaniel Philbrick (2003) connects the Charles
Wilkes Exploring Expedition in the Pacific from 1838 to 1842 to pro-
tests among New Englanders demanding the government help them
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